IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA)	
)	
Appellee)	
)	
v.)	S. CT. NO. 20-0156
)	(Floyd)
SHANE MICHAEL DAVIS)	
)	
Defendant/Appellant.)	

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR FLOYD COUNTY
THE HONORABLE CHRISTOPHER FOY, JUDGE
THE HONORABLE DEDRA SCHROEDER, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

THOMAS M. MCINTEE No. AT0010773
P.O. Box 4004
Waterloo, Iowa 50704-4004
(319) 961-1200 / (319) 883-8063 FAX
pyramidmac@yahoo.com

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

TMM/12/2/20

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: This is an appeal by the Defendant-Appellant, Shane M. Davis, from the judgment and sentence imposed 1-21-20 in the District Court for Floyd County Case No. FECR027926 following a guilty plea on 11-25-19 for Counts of Lascivious Acts with a Child, a Class D Felony in violation of Iowa 709.8(1)(e)(2011), 903B.2; and Indecent Contact with a Child, in violation of Iowa Code 709.12(1)(a), 903B.2, an Aggravated Misdemeanor.

Course of Proceedings in the District Court: On 11-4-19, the state filed a Trial Information in Floyd County Case No. FECR027926 charging Defendant, Shane M. Davis, with Counts of Lascivious Acts with a Child, a Class D Felony in violation of Iowa 709.8(1)(e)(2011), 903B.2; and Indecent Contact with a Child, in violation of Iowa Code 709.12(1)(a),

903B.2, an Aggravated Misdemeanor. (see Trial Information) (App. p. 7).

The Defendant executed a Plea Agreement, and a written guilty plea form on 11-25-19. Written Guilty Plea (App. p. 49) The Court entered an Order accepting the defendant's plea on 11-25-19, ordered a PSI, and released the defendant from jail to be under pre-trial services. (See Order 11-25-19) (App. p.53) On 1-15-20 a PSI was filed recommending consecutive prison terms of 5 and 2 years, both suspended with 5 years probation, sex registry for 10 years, 10 year special sentence, court costs, fines, and DNA sample. See PSI 1-15-20 (App.p.61)

On 1-21-20 the Court sentenced Davis to an indeterminate term of imprisonment not to exceed 5 years with a suspended \$750 fine and 35% surcharge, on Count 1; an indeterminate term of imprisonment not to exceed 2 years on Count 2 with a suspended \$625 fine, and 35% surcharge, court costs and fees, and a domestic violence surcharge of \$100. and required a DNA sample. The court ordered the sentence in Count One to run consecutively with Count 2. Pursuant to Iowa Code

Chapter 903B, upon completion of the sentence imposed above the defendant is to be committed into the custody of the Director of the Iowa Department of Corrections for a special sentence 10 years, with eligibility for parole as provided in Iowa Code Chapter 906. (Judgment)(App. p. 89). The Defendant was ordered to register with the Sheriff for the Sex Offender Registry within 5 days of release.

Notice of Appeal was filed on 1-21-20. (Notice of Appeal) (App. p. 94). The State Appellate Defender withdrew and Thomas M. McIntee was appointed for Appeal on 2-1-20.

Facts:

On 11-4-19, the state filed a Trial Information in Scott County Case No. FECR027926 charging Defendant, Shane M. Davis, with Counts of Lascivious Acts with a Child, a Class C Felony in violation of Iowa 709.1, 709.8(1)(a), 709.8(2)(a)2011), 903B.2; and Indecent Contact with a Child, in violation of Iowa Code 709.12(1)(a), 903B.2, an Aggravated Misdemeanor. (see Trial Information) (App. p. 7).

The Defendant was accused of indecent and lascivious contact with the nieces of his fiancé, B.T. aged 10 (touching her groin/vaginal area) and K.T. age 11 (touching her breast), on the outside of their clothing. See Minutes of Testimony (App. p. 10); Trial Information (App. p. 7) The defendant denied these allegations at all times. See Minutes of Testimony (App. p.10)

The Defendant executed a Plea Agreement, and a written guilty plea form on 11-25-19. Guilty Plea Form (App. p. 49)

On 11-25-19 the Court (Judge Foy) accepted the guilty plea, to Count I of Lascivious Acts with a Child, a Class D Felony in violation of Iowa 709.1, 709.8(1)(e) (2011), 903B.2; and Indecent Contact with a Child, in violation of Iowa Code 709.12(1)(b), 903B.2, an Aggravated Misdemeanor. and ordered a PSI. On 1-15-20 a PSI (App. p. 61) was filed recommending consecutive prison terms of 5 and 2 years, both suspended with 5 years probation, sex registry for 10 years, 10 year special sentence, court costs, fines, and a DNA

sample. Sentencing was held on Jan. 21, 2020. The prosecutor read allegations contained in victim statements concerning alleged threats by the defendant to the parents of the alleged victims after his guilty plea, which had not been filed or proven in court, nor ever admitted by the defendant. The prosecutor also related to the Court their complaints about Davis' release pending the sentencing hearing.

The Court (Judge Schroeder) sentenced the defendant as follows: to an indeterminate term of imprisonment not to exceed 5 years with a suspended \$750 fine and 35% surcharge, on Count 1; an indeterminate term of imprisonment not to exceed 2 years on Count 2 with a suspended \$625 fine, and 35% surcharge, court costs and fees, and a domestic violence surcharge of \$100. and required a DNA sample. The court ordered the sentence in Count One to run consecutively with Count 2. Pursuant to Iowa Code Chapter 903B, upon completion of the sentence imposed above the defendant is committed into the custody of the Director of the Iowa

Department of Corrections for 10 years, with eligibility for parole as provided in Iowa Code Chapter 906. (Judgment/Sentencing Order)(App. p.89). The Court based the prison sentences and the decision to make them consecutive on a perceived 'eyeroll' by the defendant at some point during the sentencing proceedings, as well as unproven allegations by family members read to the Court by the prosecutor. (Sentencing Transcript p 18).

Notice of Appeal was filed on 1-21-20. (Notice of Appeal) (App. p. 94). The Appellate Defender, subsequently withdrew, and Counsel Thomas M. McIntee was appointed on appeal on 2-4-20.

Any additional relevant facts will be discussed below:

ARGUMENT

I. WHETHER THE PROSECUTOR UNDERMINED THE PLEA AGREEMENT DURING SENTENCING? WHETHER TRIAL COURT ERRED BY CONSIDERING IMPROPER FACTORS IN SENTENCING THE DEFENDANT TO CONSECUTIVE PRISON TERMS? WHETHER COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO OBJECT?

A. Standard of Review and Preservation of Error.

In Iowa, appellate courts review a district court's sentencing procedure for correction of errors at law. *State v. Formaro* 638 NW2d 720 (Iowa 2002). A sentence will ordinarily not be upset on review unless the defendant shows an abuse of discretion by the trial court, or a defect in the sentencing procedure such as the court's consideration of an impermissible factor. *State v. Witham* 583 NW2d 677 (Iowa 1998).

A defendant may raise the issue of the sentencing Court's reliance upon improper factors and violation of the plea agreement on direct appeal despite the absence of an objection in the trial court. *State v. Lopez* 872 NW2d 159 (Iowa 2015); *State v. Thomas* 520 NW2d 311 (Iowa Ct of App. 1994)

In addition, when a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is made, the Iowa Supreme Court allows an exception to the general rule of error preservation. State v. Lucas, 323 N.W.2d 228, 232 (Iowa 1982). The failure of counsel to make objections to preserve error constitutes a denial of effective assistance of counsel. State v. Hrbek, 336 N.W.2d 431, 435-436 (Iowa 1983); Washington v. Scurr, 304 N.W.2d 231, 235 (Iowa 1981).

Ineffective assistance of counsel claims involves the violation of a constitutional right. The totality of the circumstances relating to counsel's conduct must be reviewed de novo. State v. Risdal, 404 N.W.2d 130, 131 (Iowa 1987).

A timely Notice of Appeal from the final ruling was filed. Notice of Appeal) (App. p. 94)

B. Discussion.

1. Sentencing Court consideration of impermissible factors

When sentencing a defendant, the Court may not consider facts or allegations that are not established by the evidence or admitted by the defendant. State v. Black. Facts that are not

admitted by the defendant or proven by the State amount to improper sentencing considerations. When a Court considers these factors in arriving at the sentence rendered it constitutes reversible error. *State v. Ashley* 462 NW2d 279 (Iowa 1990).

When the record reveal improper sentencing considerations, the reviewing Court cannot speculate about the weight a sentencing court assigned to the improper consideration. The defendant's sentence must be vacated and the case remanded for resentencing. *State v. Gonzalez* 582 NW2d 515 (Iowa 1998); *State v. Black* 324 NW2d 313 (Iowa 1982).

In *State v. Lovell* 857 NW2d 241 (Iowa 2014), the Iowa Supreme Court noted, the defendant was charged with two counts of sexual abuse in the third degree and pled guilty to two counts of incest, in violation of Iowa Code section 726.2 (2011). The district court sentenced Lovell to two consecutive terms of incarceration not to exceed five years, but during sentencing relied upon the unproven allegation that Lovell paid the victim money in exchange for sex. Lovell appealed. We granted a summary reversal and remanded the case for

resentencing before a different judge on the grounds the district court had relied upon an improper sentencing consideration. Upon resentencing, the district court again sentenced Lovell to two consecutive terms of incarceration not to exceed five years, but in doing so again referred to the impermissible sentencing factor stating,

“Well, Mr. Lovell, the problem with your case is, although you have a lack of criminal history, this is extremely offensive, obviously, in the eyes of the law, and in the eyes of the Court because [the victim] was in a vulnerable position.... In reading the case, she is desperate for diapers for her baby, and then, for sex, you're giving her money.”

Likewise, in the case at bar, the District Court relied on unproven allegations that the defendant had made physical threats against the alleged victims parents as set forth in the victim statements the county attorney read to the Court during sentencing proceedings. (See Victim Statements) (App. p. 73) (Sentencing Transcript (p. 2 L 24 to p. 14 L11) (See Minutes) (App. p.10) These statements were a part of the PSI, which the Court declared had been relied upon in

selecting the sentence imposed. See Sentencing Transcript p. 2

L 12 to L22, to-wit:

COURT: “This is the time and place set for sentencing. The Court has reviewed the presentence investigation report. Mr. Milder, have you had enough time to go through that report with your client?”

MR. MILDER: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Any changes, objections, or corrections?

MR. MILDER: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: May the Court rely upon that for sentencing purposes?

MR. MILDER: Yes, Your Honor.

In this case the parties had agreed to join in the actual recommendation of the Pre-Sentence Investigator, which according to the PSI was for suspended sentences on both offenses with 6 months in the residential facility, 5 years supervised probation, 10 year sex registry and a 10 year special sentence.

During the sentencing proceedings, the prosecutor never stated specifically that she was recommending suspended sentences, 6 months in the RFC, 5 years probation, and 10 year special sentence, 10 year sex registry. She only concurred

with the PSI, with no advocacy embracing the recommendation and agreeing it was worthy for the Court to impose.

Instead the prosecutor insisted upon personally reading to the Judge from the victims' and their parents' statements which were part of the PSI, and which the Court had already reviewed and declared her intent to rely upon for selection of sentence. At the conclusion of her argument/narration the prosecutor merely stated her concurrence with the PSI report's recommendation. See Sentencing Transcript (p. 2 L 19 to p. 14 L 11).

Additionally, in State v. Messer 306 NW2d 731(Iowa 1981), the Iowa Supreme Court held,

“We will set aside a sentence and remand a case to the district court for resentencing if the sentencing court relied upon charges of an unprosecuted offense that was neither admitted to by the defendant nor otherwise proved. As we recently stated in State v. Messer, 306 N.W.2d 731 (Iowa 1981) The circumstances considered at the sentencing hearing related to the alleged illegal entry into the victim's home. We have stated that such consideration is improper. If there were additional factual circumstances considered, the district court has left us to speculate what these could be. As in Messer, we cannot speculate about the weight the sentencing court gave to these unknown circumstances. Since we cannot evaluate their influence, we must strike down the sentence. Messer, 306 N.W.2d at 733.”

In Lovell, the District Court’s consideration of more serious conduct, an allegation that Lovell paid the victim money in exchange for sex which was never proven, never charged, or admitted to by the defendant required the Court to remand for resentencing by the district court before a different judge on the grounds the district court had relied upon an improper sentencing consideration in sentencing Lovell to two consecutive terms of incarceration not to exceed five years.

In the case at bar, the prosecutor’s narration was a de facto argument for maximum prison sentences, contrary to the parties’ plea agreement. The prosecutor made virtually no effort to comply with the spirit and intent of the plea agreement, and in essence sought to undermine it by interjecting articulation of unproven allegations, which affected the Court’s disposition.

In Lovell, the Iowa Supreme Court stated,

“[i]f a court in determining a sentence uses any improper consideration, resentencing of the defendant is required,” even if it was “merely a ‘secondary consideration.’ ” *State v. Grandberry*, 619 N.W.2d 399, 401 (Iowa 2000) (quoting *State v. Messer*, 306 N.W.2d 731, 733 (Iowa 1981)). Information contained in the minutes of testimony is not a permissible sentencing consideration if unproven. (“Where portions of the minutes [of

testimony] are not necessary to establish a factual basis for a plea, they are deemed denied by the defendant and are otherwise unproved and a sentencing court cannot consider or rely on them.”).

Here, although the district court attempted to disclaim the reference to the impermissible sentencing factor, “we cannot speculate about the weight the sentencing court gave to these unknown circumstances. Since we cannot evaluate their influence, we must strike down the sentence.” *Black*, 324 N.W.2d at 316. In order to protect the integrity of our judicial system from the appearance of impropriety, we vacate the defendant's sentence and remand the case to the district court for resentencing before a different judge.”

In *State v. Spiker*, Iowa Sup. Ct. No. 16-2090 (Ia App. 2017)

the Iowa Court of Appeals declared,

“Spiker claims the district court relied on uncharged and unproven facts contained in the minutes of testimony and that this reliance resulted in a violation of his due-process rights. The district court relied heavily on sections of the minutes of testimony, alleging another child, E.R., was forced to perform oral sex on Spiker. “A sentencing court may consider unprosecuted offenses in imposing sentences only if admitted by the defendant or adequate facts are presented at the sentencing hearing to show the defendant committed the crimes.” See *State v. Delaney*, 526 N.W.2d 170, 179 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994) (citing *State v. Black*, 324 N.W.2d 313, 316 (Iowa 1982)).

The district court properly admitted that it considered improper factors and had the foresight to make a full and accurate record of its decision. The district court stated, “After the sentencing hearing, counsel for the State and your attorney advised the Court that the Court had made a mistake in stating that the act which was mentioned in the minutes wasn’t the act you participated in.”

However, the district court failed to resentence Spiker. Even when “the district court attempt[s] to disclaim the reference to the impermissible sentencing factor, ‘we cannot speculate about the weight the sentencing court gave to these unknown circumstances. Since we cannot evaluate their influence, we must strike down the sentence.’” *State v. Lovell*, 857 N.W.2d 241, 243 (Iowa 2014) (citing *Black*, 324 N.W.2d at 316). We applaud the district court’s candid admission but are required to “vacate the defendant’s sentence and remand the case to the district court for resentencing before a different judge.” *Id.*

In stating its reasons for rejecting the unanimous recommendations of the professionals involved in this case, including the prosecutor, defense attorney and pre-sentence investigator, the Court stated at Sentencing Transcript p. 18 L 10 as follows:

THE COURT: “The laws of Iowa require that a sentence be imposed that provides for your rehabilitation, protects the community, and deters others from committing this type of offense, and deters your future actions, unlawful actions.

The Court looks at several different factors in determining what an appropriate sentence is. I look at your age. I look at your employment circumstances, your family circumstances, your record, the nature of the offense, your attitude, which included some eye rolling, some huffing and guess I wouldn't call it appropriate courtroom behavior, but -- It also includes everything I've learned through the presentence investigation report.”

The improper statements and unproven allegations were contained as part of the PSI. See PSI (App. p. 61). They had also been verbally narrated verbatim by the prosecutor during the sentencing proceeding. This reviewing appellate Court may not speculate about the weight the District Court assigned to the improper considerations. The defendant's sentence must be vacated and the case remanded for resentencing. State v.

Lovell 857 NW2d 241(Iowa 2014); State v. Gonzalez 582 NW2d 515 (Iowa 1998); State v. Black 324 NW2d 313 (Iowa 1982).

2. Breach of Plea Agreement by Prosecutor

In this case the parties had agreed to join in the actual recommendation of the Pre-Sentence Investigator, which according to the PSI was for suspended sentences on both offenses with 6 months in the residential facility, 5 years supervised probation, sex registry and a 10 year special sentence. See Plea Agreement (App.p.49); See PSI (App. p. 61).

During the sentencing proceedings, the prosecutor never stated specifically that she was recommending suspended sentences, 6 months in the RFC, 5 years probation, and 10 year special sentence. Instead the prosecutor insisted upon personally reading to the Judge from the victims' and their parents' statements which were part of the PSI. The Court reviewed and declared her intent to rely upon the PSI for selection of sentence. At the conclusion of her argument the County Attorney merely stated her concurrence with the PSI

report's recommendation. See Sentencing Transcript (p. 2 L 19 to p. 14 L 11).

The prosecutor's narration was a de facto argument for the victims' requests for maximum prison sentences, contrary to the parties' plea agreement. The prosecutor made virtually no effort to comply with the spirit and intent of the plea agreement, and in essence sought to undermine it by interjecting articulation of unproven allegations, which affected the Court's disposition.

In State v. Delaney, 526 NW2d 170 (Iowa App. 1994) the Iowa Court declared,

“[T]he remedy for the State's breach of a plea agreement as to a sentencing recommendation is to remand the case for resentencing by a different judge, with the prosecutor obligated to honor the plea agreement and sentencing recommendation.” *State v. Lopez*, 872 N.W.2d 159, 181 (Iowa 2015)

The remedy is the same when defense counsel fails to object to such a breach by the State. See *State v. Fannon*, 799 N.W.2d 515, 523–24 (Iowa 2011); *State v. Bergmann*, 600 N.W.2d 311, 315 (Iowa 1999). Ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claims are not subject to ordinary error-preservation rules. *Nguyen v. State*, 878 N.W.2d 744, 750 (Iowa 2016). Our review of such claims is de novo. See *State v. Harris*, 919 N.W.2d 753, 754 (Iowa 2018). In order to prevail on his ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claim, Hanna must show by a preponderance of the evidence that (1) counsel failed to perform an essential duty and (2) prejudice resulted. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984); *State v. Harrison*, 914 N.W.2d 178, 188 (Iowa 2018).”

In *State v. Lopez*, the Iowa Supreme Court stated,

“Lopez's appellate brief asked that he be permitted to withdraw his guilty plea or, alternatively, that the case be remanded for resentencing by a different judge. His application for further review narrowed his requested relief to resentencing by a different judge. That was the relief sought by his appellate counsel at oral argument.⁹

We have repeatedly held that the remedy for the State's breach of a plea agreement as to a sentencing recommendation is to remand the case for resentencing by a different judge, with the prosecutor obligated to honor the plea agreement and sentencing recommendation. *Fannon*, 799 N.W.2d at 524 ("Doing so ensures Fannon receives the benefit of the bargain by demanding specific performance of the plea agreement."); *Bearse*, 748 N.W.2d at 219–20 ; *Horness*, 600 N.W.2d at 301.”

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