## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 20—0156

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee,

VS.

SHANE MICHAEL DAVIS, Defendant-Appellant.

> APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR FLOYD COUNTY THE HONORABLE CHRISTOPHER FOY (PLEA) AND HON. DEDRA SCHROEDER (SENTENCING), JUDGES

#### APPELLEE'S AMENDED BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

#### ISRAEL KODIAGA

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 (515) 281-4902 (fax) <u>Israel.Kodiaga@ag.iowa.gov</u>

RACHEL GINBEY Floyd County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

**FINAL** 

#

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

This case can be decided based on existing legal principles.

Transfer to the Court of Appeals would be appropriate. Iowa R. App.

P. 6.1101(3).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### **Nature of the Case**

This is a direct appeal following an *Alford* plea<sup>1</sup> to one count of lascivious acts with a child, a class D felony, in violation of Iowa Code section 709.8(1)(e), and one count of indecent contact with a child, an aggravated misdemeanor, in violation of Iowa Code sections 709.12(1)(a) and 903B.2 (2019).

## **Course of Proceedings**

The State accepts the defendant's course of proceedings as adequate and essentially correct. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(3).

## **Facts & Course of Proceedings**

In November 2019, in Floyd County case number FECR027926, the State filed a trial information in which it charged defendant Shane Michael Davis with one count of lascivious acts with a child, a class C

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25 (1970) (holding a defendant may enter a voluntary guilty plea notwithstanding an inability or unwillingness to admit guilt).

felony, in violation of Iowa Code sections 709.1, 709.8(1)(a), 709.8(2)(a) and 903B.1; and one count of indecent contact with a child, an aggravated misdemeanor, in violation of Iowa Code sections 709.12(1)(a) and 903B.2. *See* 11/04/2019 Trial Info; Conf. App.7–9. In count one of the charges, the State alleged that in the summer of 2019, Davis fondled or touched the pubes or genitals of a ten-year-old child "for the purpose of arousing or satisfying the sexual desires of either of them." *Id.* While count two charged that, in the same summer of 2019, Davis touched the "clothing covering the immediate area of the inner thigh, groin, buttock, anus, or breast" of an eleven-year-old child, "for the purpose of arousing or satisfying the sexual desires of either of them." *Id.* 

The minutes of testimony, that were filed with the trial information, provided a more detailed account of Davis's crime. *See* 11/04/2019 Minutes; Conf. App.10–17. According to the minutes, the first victim, K.T, an eleven-year-old girl, reported that she was in the living room of Davis's house, when Davis "cupped and squeezed" her breasts. *See* Minutes at p.4; Conf. App.10–17. The second victim, B.T, stated that she was ten years old and that she was sitting on a couch at Davis's house, when Davis "rubbed her privates with his

hand." She added that Davis told her not to tell anyone "or he would beat and spank her." *Id*.

On November 25, 2019, following plea negotiations, Davis withdrew his not guilty plea to the charged offense in count I, and instead entered an *Alford* plea to the lesser included charge of lascivious acts with a child, a class D felony, in violation of Iowa Code section 709.8(1)(e). He also entered an Alford plea to the charged offense of indecent contact with a child, in count II. See Plea Tr. p. 2, lines 13-p. 3, lines 21; p. 16, lines 7-p. 22, lines 13; see also 11/29/2019 Alford Guilty Plea; Conf. App.49–52. In exchange for his pleas, the State agreed to follow the sentencing recommendations of the presentence investigation report (PSI) on both counts. Plea Tr. p. 3, lines 3–9. Following his guilty plea, Davis was advised that the only way to challenge his plea was by filing a written motion in arrest of judgment. Plea Tr. p. 21, lines 16-p.22, lines 12. Sentencing was set for January 21, 2020, see Plea Tr. p. 25, lines 3-5; and a PSI was ordered. See Order PSI; Conf. App.53-55.

On January 21, 2020, Davis appeared for sentencing. Before imposing the sentence, the district court asked Davis's counsel whether he had reviewed the PSI report with Davis; Davis's counsel

replied in the affirmative. Sent Tr. p. 2, lines 12–15. The district court then asked Davis's counsel if there were "any changes, objections, or corrections" to be made in the PSI report; and whether the court could rely on the PSI for sentencing. *Id.* at lines 17–20. Davis denied having any omissions or corrections and stated that the court could rely on the PSI for the purposes of sentencing. *Id.* at lines 20–22.

The district court then asked whether the State would be providing victim impact statements. *Id.* at lines 23.

**The State:** Yes, Your Honor. I do have a total of four statements that I will be reading, each of them. One is for each of the children and then for their parents."

**The Court:** Any objection, [defense counsel]

**Defense Counsel:** I have no objection. They are already attached to the presentence report, I believe.

The Court: Go ahead.

Sent. Tr. p. 2, lines 24-p. 3, lines 6.

After listening to the victim impact statements, the court asked for the State's sentencing recommendation. The State stated:

Your Honor, in this case the plea agreement was that the State would follow the recommendation made by the presentence investigation, so the State would join in those recommendations being made. Sent. Tr. p. 14, lines 6–11. Of note, the PSI had recommended a suspended consecutive prison sentence, with probation and placement in a residential treatment facility for 180 days or until maximum benefits. *See* PSI p. 11; Conf. App.61–88.

Davis requested a suspended sentence on both counts to "run concurrent to each other" with supervised probation, and without placement in the residential treatment facility. Sent. Tr. p. 15, lines 1–p. 18, lines 5.

The district court rejected Davis's recommendation; instead, it imposed a term of incarceration not to exceed five years in count I, and a term of incarceration not to exceed two years in count II. *Id.* p. 18, lines 23–p. 19, lines 24. The sentences were ordered to be served consecutively. *Id.* p. 19, lines 21–22. In explaining its reasons for imposing a prison sentence, the district court mentioned Davis's age, his employment, family circumstances, his criminal history, nature of the offense, his attitude, as well as the PSI. Sent. Tr. p. 18, lines 15–22.

Davis now appeals. *See* Notice of Appeal; Conf. App.94. In this direct appeal, Davis claims: (1) the district court considered impermissible sentencing factors in imposing a prison sentence, (2)

the State breached the plea agreement at sentencing by reading the victim impact statement, (3) trial counsel was ineffective by pressuring him to accept a plea offer and by not asking the trial court to be bound by the plea agreement. For the reasons given below, all of Davis's claims should fail.

#### ARGUMENT

I. Davis did not preserve error on his argument that the district court considered the contents of the PSI. Nevertheless, there was no error at Davis's sentencing hearing.

#### **Preservation of Error**

Error was not preserved as to Davis's first argument alleging that the district court improperly considered some statements made in the victim impact statements that were attached to the PSI. *See* Appellant's Br. at 18–27.

Davis did not object to the district court's consideration of the contents of the PSI, including the attached victim impact statements, at the sentencing hearing, and therefore he failed to preserve error. See State v. Headley, 926 N.W.2d 545, 551–52 (Iowa 2019). In Headley, the Iowa Supreme Court stated that defendants who fail to object to information contained in the PSI at sentencing, waive their rights on appeal to challenge the district court's reliance on the PSI.

Id.; State v. Gordon, 921 N.W.2d 19, 23 (Iowa 2018). "A court has the right to rely on the information on the PSI if the defendant fails to object to the information contained in the PSI." Gordon N.W.2d at 24. Here, Davis did not offer any objection; when asked whether the court could rely on the PSI for sentencing purposes, Davis replied in the affirmative. Sent. Tr. p. 2, lines 12–22. Likewise, Davis did not object to the prosecution reading the victim impact statements even though he understood that the victim impact statements were attached to the PSI. Id. at p. 3, lines 2–6. Disclaiming an issue below precludes review of it on appeal. State v. Washington, 257 N.W.2d 890, 893 (Iowa 1977) (stating that a party to a criminal proceeding may not complain of error where he himself has acquiesced in, committed, or invited the error). Because error was not preserved, this Court should summarily dismiss this claim.

#### **Standard of Review**

In the event this Court finds that Davis's sentencing challenge was preserved, review is for correction of legal error. *See* Iowa R. App. P. 6.907; *State v. Valin*, 724 N.W.2d 440, 444 (Iowa 2006). "[T]he decision of the district court to impose a particular sentence within the statutory limits is cloaked with a strong presumption in its

favor, and will only be overturned for an abuse of discretion or the consideration of inappropriate matters." *State v. Formaro*, 638 N.W.2d 720, 724 (Iowa 2002). A reviewing court does not infer that the district court relied on improper sentencing considerations unless it is clear from the record. *Formaro*, 638 N.W.2d at 725–26.

#### **Merits**

When sentencing a defendant for a criminal offense, a district court is directed to receive and examine:

All pertinent information, including the presentence investigation report and victim impact statements, if any, the court shall consider the following sentencing options. The court shall determine which of them is authorized by law for the offense, and of the authorized sentences, which of them or which combination of them, in the discretion of the court, will provide the maximum opportunity for the rehabilitation of the defendant, and for the protection of the community from further offenses by the defendant and others.

Iowa Code § 901.5. While considering this information, a district court may not consider an unproven or unprosecuted offense when sentencing a defendant unless (1) the facts before the court show the defendant committed the offense, or (2) the defendant admits it. *State v. Jose*, 636 N.W.2d 38, 41 (Iowa 2001). A remand for resentencing is appropriate if the record contains "clear evidence"

that the sentencing court relied on unproven or unprosecuted offenses. *State v. Sailer*, 587 N.W.2d 756, 762–64 (Iowa 1998). Even if a victim impact statement discloses unproven offenses, "there must be an affirmative showing the court relied on . . . improper evidence." *Id.* at 762 (quoting *State v. Dake*, 545 N.W.2d 895, 897 (Iowa Ct. App. 1996)). Iowa appellate court's will look at the district court's reasons for imposing the sentence to determine whether any of the reasons given pertain to the impermissible statements. *See id.* at 763 (citing *State v. Phillips*, 561 N.W.2d 355, 359 (Iowa 1997). Here, the record does not establish that the court considered unproven and unprosecuted offenses when it sentenced Davis.

Davis contends the district court improperly considered unproven allegations disclosed in the victim impact statements that were attached to the PSI. *See* Appellant's Br. at 22. In particular, he claims that the court considered statements that he "made physical threats against alleged victim's parents as set forth in the victim impact statements the county attorney read to the Court during sentencing proceedings." *Id.*; *see* Sent. Tr. p. 5, lines 11–15; p. 10, lines 4–14. He argues that because the district court stated it considered the PSI in reaching its sentence, and because the victim

impact statements were attached to the PSI, the court must have relied on the uncharged allegations contained in the victim impact statements. *See* Appellant's Br. at 26. The State disagrees; contrary to Davis's assertions, the district court's statement of reasons for imposing the prison sentence does not establish that the court relied on such statements.

After listening to recommendations from both the State and the defense, the court chose a sentence of incarceration, and provided its reasons:

**The Court:** The laws of Iowa require that a sentence be imposed that provides for rehabilitation, protects the community, and deters others from committing this type of offense, and deters your future actions, unlawful actions.

The Court looks at several different factors in determining what an appropriate sentence is. I look at your age. I look at your employment circumstances, your family circumstances, your record, the nature of the offense, your attitude, which included some eye rolling, some huffing, and guess I wouldn't call it appropriate courtroom behavior, but—It also includes everything I've learned through the presentence investigation report.

Sent Tr. p. 18, lines 10–22. Here, the district court's comments indicate that the court took all the proper statutory factors into consideration. To the extent the victim impact statement alluded to

any uncharged criminal activity, this Court should find that the district court did not rely on any such statements because it did not mention that it considered any uncharged conduct. State v. Sailer, 587 N.W.2d 756, 762 (Iowa 1998) (to overcome the presumption the district court properly exercised its discretion, there must be an affirmative showing the court relied on . . . improper evidence). Moreover, this Court trusts that as part of the sentencing determination, district courts will "filter out improper or irrelevant evidence" that may be included in the victim impacts statements. Id. at 764; see also LaPointe v. State, 2017 WL 3067372, at \*3 (Iowa Ct. App. July 19, 2017). A look at the district court's statements suggests that it performed that filtering process: there was no mention by the court of the victim impact statements or any uncharged conduct that was reflected in the victim impact statements. Because Davis has failed to make an affirmative showing that the sentencing court relied on any unproven allegations, his claim must fail on the merits and this Court should affirm.

II. Error was not preserved as to Davis's claim that the prosecutor breached the plea agreement; moreover, Davis does not raise this claim as an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Had Davis properly raised this claim as an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, it still would have failed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.

Preservation of Error, Waiver, and Motion to Dismiss for lack of jurisdiction.

Error was also not preserved as to Davis's second claim alleging a breach of the plea agreement. He says the State breached the plea agreement by reading the victim impact statements to the sentencing court. See Appellant's Brief at 27–32. But Davis did not object at the sentencing hearing to the State's reading of the victim impact statements; to the contrary, Davis invited the error to which he now complains—he consented to the State reading the four victim impact statements. See Sent Tr. p. 2, lines 24-p. 3, lines 6. He cannot now complain of the error which he invited or assented to. See State v. Washington, 257 N.W.2d 890, 893 (Iowa 1977) (stating party to a criminal proceeding may not complain of error where he himself has acquiesced in, committed, or invited the error). Error was not preserved, and this Court should decline the invitation to address this unpreserved claim. "Issues not raised before the district court, including constitutional issues, cannot be raised for the first time on

appeal." State v. Mitchell, 757 N.W.2d 431, 435 (Iowa 2008); accord Meier v. Senecaut, 641 N.W.2d 532, 539 (Iowa 2002) (ruling on merits required to preserve error).

Understandably, Davis does not raise this claim under the rubric of ineffective assistance of counsel—this Court could not resolve such a claim. *See generally* Iowa Code § 814.7 (2020). Thus, lacking preserved error or an alternative means to reach the issue, there is nothing for this Court to review and the State will not address this claim any further. This Court should summarily affirm.

III. Davis's ineffective assistance of counsel claims cannot be decided on direct appeal; Statutory amendments to Iowa Code section 814.7 deprives this Court of subject matter jurisdiction.

Motion to Dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.

Davis's last contention in sections II and III of his proof brief is that his trial counsel was ineffective for (1) inducing him to plead guilty, thus his plea was made involuntarily; (2) failing to bind the district court to the plea agreement under Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.10. *See* Appellant's Br. at 33–50. This Court cannot reach the merits of these claims that Davis raises under the rubric of ineffective assistance of counsel because it lacks jurisdiction.

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